

4TH GLOBAL CONFERENCE ON OCEANS, COASTS, AND ISLANDS

Working Group on Freshwater to Oceans





POLICY BRIEF ON FRESHWATER AND OCEANS



Organized by the Global Forum on Oceans, Coasts, and Islands and Hosted by the Government of Vietnam, Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development with principal funding from the Global **Environment Facility**

















































Global Forum on Oceans, Coasts, and Islands--Strategic Oceans Planning to 2016

The Global forum on Oceans, Coasts, and Islands has undertaken a strategic planning effort for the period 2006-2016 to develop policy recommendations for specific next steps needed to advance the global oceans agenda aimed at governments, UN agencies, NGOs, industry, and scientific groups. To this effect, Working Groups have been organized around 12 major topic areas related to the global oceans commitments made at the 2002 World Summit on Sustainable Development and to emerging issues facing the global oceans community.

The Working Groups have been organized and coordinated by the Global Forum Secretariat, under the direction of Dr. Biliana Cicin-Sain, Co-Chair and Head of Secretariat, Global Forum on Oceans, Coasts, and Islands, and involving the following staff from the Gerard J. Mangone Center for Marine Policy, University of Delaware: Miriam Balgos, Kateryna Wowk, Caitlin Snyder, Shelby Hockenberry, and Kathleen McCole.

Working Group on Linking the Management of Freshwater, Oceans, and Coasts

WORKING GROUP LEADERS:

Torkil Jönch-Clausen, DHI Water, Denmark, and Global Water Partnership

Clement Lewsey, NOAA/National Ocean Service/International Program Office

Antonio Diaz de Leon/Porfirio Alvarez, Ministry of Environment and Natural Resources, SEMARNAT, Mexico

Alfred Duda, Global Environment Facility

Andrew Hudson, United Nations Development Programme

Felix Dodds, Stakeholder Forum for a Sustainable Future

Tom Laughlin, Office of International Affairs, NOAA

WORKING GROUP MEMBERS:

Margarita Astralaga, IUCN-Spain

Isaac Azuz-Adeath, Cetys University, Mexico

Julian Barbiere, Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission of UNESCO

Stefano Belfiore, Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission of UNESCO

Richard Delaney, Center for Coastal Studies, Provincetown, Massachusetts, USA Niels Ipsen, UNEP Collaborating Centre on Water and the Environment, Denmark

Magnus Johannesson, Secretary-General, Ministry for the Environment, Iceland

Elizabeth McLanahan/Jennifer Winston, Office of International Affairs, NOAA

Gonzalo Cid, and Ed Kruse, NOAA/National Ocean Service/International Program Office

Vincent Sweeney, Caribbean Environmental Health Institute

Ivan Zavadsky, Global Environment Facility Danube-Black Sea Regional Programme

Kathryn Mengerink/Jessica Troell, Environmental Law Institute

Patricia Muñoz, National Polytechnic Institute, Mexico

Nguyen Ngoc Huan, National Program on Comprehensive Marine Environment and Resource Survey, Vietnam

Steven Olsen, Coastal Resources Center, University of Rhode Island

Evelia Rivera-Arriaga, Centro Epomex-Universidad Autónoma de Campeche, Mexico

Ken Sherman, NOAA-NMFS

Global Forum on Oceans, Coasts, and Islands

Working Group on Linking the Management of Freshwater, Oceans, and Coasts

Policy Brief: Linking the Management of Freshwater, Oceans, and Coasts

Lead Authors Gonzalo Cid, NOAA-NOS/IPO, Clement Lewsey, NOAA-NOS/IPO, Torkil Jønch-Clausen, DHI Water & Global Water Partnership

Draft March 30, 2008

Table of Contents

Foreword by Biliana Cicin-Sain, Global Forum	iii
Policy Brief	
1. Background Information	1
2. Climate change impact on water resources	2
3. "Freshwater to oceans" hotspots	2
4. Need for integrated planning and an integrated vision	3
5. From planning to action: the problem of implementation	4
6. Suggested priority issues for the working group	5
7. Recommendations for addressing priority issues at the Conference	6
8. Proposed goal(s) for the Working Group	7

Foreword

Working Group on Linking the Management of Freshwater, Oceans, and Coasts

To address degradation of the marine environment, it is important to consider and incorporate the impacts of land-based activities along the coast, as well as further inland. Activities that occur many miles inland can have an effect not only in coastal areas, but also far out at sea. Examples of these impacts include salt water intrusion into historically freshwater areas, nutrient over-enrichment, and changes in sedimentation patterns. To preserve overall ecosystem integrity, it is imperative to link management measures regarding oceans and coasts to the management of river basins and watersheds.

Discussions of freshwater management and oceans management, however, typically take place in separate fora. It is important to address the challenge of linking freshwater to coasts and oceans from a new collaborative perspective that examines how decisionmaking and institutional development from both upstream and downstream management could be reconciled at international, regional, national, and sub-national levels.

Discussions at the Global Conference on linking freshwater to coasts to oceans

In an effort to address this disconnect between the management of inland waters and coastal ecosystems, the Working Group on Linking the Management of Freshwater, Oceans, and Coasts has identified five goals in its Policy Brief:

- Identify (and recognize) the costs and implications of failure to link Integrated Water Resources Management (IWRM) to Integrated Coastal and Ocean Management (ICM)
 - Hotspots (ecosystem, economy, and human)
 - Adaptation to climate change in coastal areas
 - Water supply in coastal areas (e.g., salt water intrusion)
 - Institutional arrangements and investments
- 2) Challenge participants to identify ways to better link IWRM and ICM that can be suitable for governments, donors, planners (land and marine), and key stakeholders.
- 3) Identify success stories.
 - Institutional mechanisms that have worked (or are working)
 - Financing (sustainable mechanisms and international support)
 - Social (community-based management)
- 4) Provide input to the final Global Forum Conference Report
- 5) Identify post-Hanoi activities, including input to the marine section at the 5th World Water Forum (Istanbul, 2009).

The Global Forum Secretariat would like to thank the leaders of the Working Group-Clement Lewsey, Gonzalo Cid, Jonathan Justi, Al Duda, Tom Laughlin, Torkil Jönch-Clausen, Andy Hudson, and Porfirio Alvarez-- for their participation and input to the working group process. The efforts of Gonzalo Cid, Clement Lewsey, and Jonathan Justi (NOAA-NOS) in drafting the policy brief, as well as of Torkil Jönch-Clausen, Andy Hudson, and Larry Hildebrand in providing comments to the brief are acknowledged with sincere thanks.

Biliana Cicin-Sain Global Forum on Oceans, Coasts, and Islands

POLICY BRIEF: LINKING THE MANAGEMENT OF FRESHWATER, COASTS, AND OCEANS

Background Information

The effect of land-based human activities is the most important driver of marine pollution and impact on marine ecosystems and coastal and marinedependent economies. The UNEP-Global Programme of Action (GPA) estimates that about 80% of the pollution load in the oceans originates from land-based activities, which threaten health, productivity, and biodiversity of the marine environment. The resulting impact of this pollution affects some of the most productive areas of the marine environment (ecologically and economically), such as estuaries and nearshore coastal waters. Linking watershed and coastal management—especially in those areas affected by the availability, use, quality, and influence of freshwater is now recognized as a need to be addressed by multiple parties, and one that requires commitment and preventive action at all levels: local, national, regional, and global.

Freshwater runoff has a major impact on the health of important coastal and ocean ecosystems, ocean productivity, ocean circulation patterns, and hydrological balances, which are also influenced by natural fluctuation of the global climate system. The natural connectivity of rivers and oceans should be considered in coastal and watershed planning, especially in areas where this connectivity is highly sensitive and/or vulnerable (e.g., deltas/estuaries, low-lying coastal wetlands, small islands, glacier fjords, coral reefs).

Linking the management of freshwater and coastal/marine areas is an issue raised by

several international organizations and conservation/environmental fora (e.g., UNEP-GPA, World Water Council, Global Water Partnership, Global Forum); in particular, they focus on the direct impacts from inland activities (e.g., agriculture, forestry, mining, urban development) on marine/coastal ecosystems, resources, and activities. However, other aspects of this linkagesuch as human health and water safety issues, livelihood of coastal communities, and potential impacts from water-cycle changes and sea-level rise due to climate change impacts—have not been directly addressed within the context of land-based impacts on the marine environment.

Water resource management is a crosscutting issue that affects environmental, social, economic, cultural, and political aspects in any country or region. Under this consideration, achieving integrated coastal and ocean management requires integrating watershed and land-based activities into the planning process; this is a major task, since most countries have separate management approaches for oceans and freshwater. These separate approaches include different and/or overlapping policies, authorities, national/local priorities, and decisionmaking power, which, in most cases, hinder any attempt at an integrated planning scope.

There have been some advances in developing the framework for integrating watershed and coastal management (e.g., GPA-based national programs of action), but the global challenge still remains regarding the capacity to implement these programs, and to secure the permanent commitment, funding, and resources

required given the magnitude of this integration.

Integrating existing effort at the national level (rather than creating new ones) is the key for successful implementation of a watershed and coastal management strategy. The Beijing Declaration, resulting from the 2006 Second Intergovernmental Review of the GPA, encourages countries to strengthen efforts to develop national programs of action and mechanisms for the protection of the marine environment from land-based sources of pollution, in concert with relevant national legislation, projects/initiatives, and budget planning (e.g., national integrated water resources management plans, coastal zone management initiatives, water safety plans, national environmental policies, etc.).

Climate change impact on water resources

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) predicts that climate change will increase current stresses on water resources from population growth and economic and land-use change. Predicted reduction of glacier and snow cover due to temperature increase will affect water availability, hydropower potential, human health, and water cycle seasonality (including effects on terrestrial and marine ecosystems)¹.

IPCC predicts that the negative impacts of climate change on freshwater systems will outweigh its possible benefits. Areas in which runoff is projected to decline face a reduction in the value of the services provided by water resources. The potential benefits of increased annual runoff in some areas will be tempered by negative effects of increased precipitation, seasonal runoff shifts on water supply, water quality, and flood risk. In coastal areas,

¹ IPPC: Climate Change 2007: Synthesis report.

sea-level rise will increase water resource constraints due to saline-water intrusion into groundwater supplies².

Increased runoff sedimentation and freshwater dilution on coastal areas will have an adverse effect on many coastal/marine ecosystems. Also, coastal erosion and floods will especially affect large populations in low-lying delta areas and small islands.

"Freshwater to oceans" hotspots

Some especially sensitive coastal areas are more vulnerable to the combined impact of land-based pollution and climate change effects. IPCC has identified some hotspots for vulnerability³ and potential impacts of climate change considering the characteristics of exposure, sensitivity, and adaptive capacity. Among the hotspot areas assessed by the IPCC, those with clear land-ocean interaction characteristics include:

- Deltas and estuaries (especially populated megadeltas)
- Coral reef areas
- Low-lying coastal wetlands
- Small islands
- Sand/gravel coastlines/beaches

Also, any type of coastal/marine protected area directly influenced by land-based activities will be impacted, within and outside their boundaries, by changes in water quality, nutrient runoff, and climate change. Management of MPAs should be integrated with land-based planning, especially in those cases with land-ocean dependent interactions.

The combined effect of climate change (e.g., sea level rise and coastal erosion) and human impact is increasing the

² Op. Cit.

³ IPCC, 2007: Summary for policymakers. In: Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the 4th Assessment Report of the IPCC.

vulnerability of all hotspots listed above. Likely impacts include:

- Shoreline retreat due to coast erosion and sea level rise.
- Subsidence of deltas due to runoff pattern change (e.g., change of precipitation), sediment starvation and river flooding due to human intervention.
- Increasing salinity in estuaries due to sea level rise, causing productivity and biodiversity changes, and potential eutrophication due to changes in freshwater residence time.
- Reduction of mangrove areas and saltmarshes due to increased frequency and intensity of severe weather events and changes in the hydrological regimes.
- Water availability and coastal protection in small islands due to coastal perviousness reduction and the reduction of coastal natural coastal buffer areas (human intervention), change in precipitation cycles, and greater frequency of severe weather events.
- Reduction of coral reef areas due to anthropogenic impact and bleaching associated with climate change.

The sensitive nature of these hotspots to human intervention and the potential effects of climate change require a special and comprehensive protection that requires both an integrated planning system to unify upstream, downstream, and coastal areas and an understanding of the adaptive capacity of humans and natural systems.

There is a huge gap between developed and developing nations in capacity for adaptation, especially in those hotspot where a high concentration of human population can be found. Addressing adaptation issues in developing nations and improving the institutional capacity to respond to these issues should be a priority for international cooperation and donors' agendas.

Need for integrated planning and an integrated vision

Land and coastal planning have traditionally been managed as separate sectors from both institutional and disciplinary perspectives. Important issues to address in integrative planning include: centralized decision-making and planning, low-level priority traditionally given to environmental issues, weak lead institutions, subsidies to some economic activities, development models, lack of information, and lack of legal and institutional authority.

The understanding of the impact of upstream human activities (e.g., changes in water courses, agriculture, sewage) to the downstream areas and coastal zones and their effect on ecosystems and human health is vital to effective decision making, physical and policy planning, and community support to national- or regional-scale initiatives. Integrated watershed and coastal management has a transboundary nature (nationally and internationally) that requires cross-sectoral and cross-jurisdictional arrangements and support (including harmonized policies, financing, and information gathering/sharing); integrated management instruments; and an ecosystem-based management approach (which should consider water and/or ecosystems as key elements for planning).

There are several planning instruments that can provide upstream and downstream integration. For instance, spatial planning systems allow for management of large ecosystems with long-, medium-, and short-term perspectives and can incorporate other decision-making elements such as ownership or user fee

systems. Today's spatial planning systems need to address shortcomings in the areas of biodiversity, climate-change adaptation, water resources management, and marine ecosystems.

Integrating watershed and coastal resources management into spatial planning can improve the latter's involvement of stakeholders and increase its focus on water resource management. Spatial planning also must incorporate biodiversity management, particularly when the area in question includes or influences protected zones (both terrestrial and marine).

Another important component of the upstream-downstream integrated vision is outreach, education, and participation mechanisms addressed to the involved stakeholders. This component ensures that the different actors (e.g., fresh- and marine-water users, local and national authorities, donors) are involved in decision-making processes, and helps them to understand the needs of the other sectors and the impacts of their activities on the entire system and on other actors' activities. As the traditional planning system has managed freshwater and marine systems separately, the involvement of stakeholders into decision making, if any, has been sectoral and/or has differed according to the management and planning level in which they may be involved

The sectoral approach to management (decision making and investment) has probably been the cause for the lack of involvement (or knowledge) and participation of a wider range of stakeholder into decision making, and lack of knowledge of other actors' current and potential impact of their activities in the entire system. The idea of "whatever you do to the river basin will affect the ocean" is not very well understood in many sectors of the society; even decision-

makers may have misconceptions about the dimension of the problem and the effects on the national economy.

Addressing the planning approach and stakeholder participation and education should be a priority for national governments, and especially for regional and international organizations. This is particularly important in developing nations and when the planning involves historically excluded groups such as indigenous or poor communities, which can greatly contribute to the integrated planning system.

From planning to action: the problem of implementation

Linking freshwater to oceans is not a new integrated management concept. The need to integrate watershed and coastal management has been identified and recommended by different international fora and organizations (e.g., UNCED, UNEP-GPA). In the last decade many countries or regions have worked in assessing their issues and needs, designing land-based planning, and developing the institutional and/or legal framework for addressing integrated watershed and coastal management (e.g., regional protocols on land-based source of pollution, UNEP-GPA-framed national programs of action, and integrated coastal and watershed management legislation), most of it funded by international cooperation. However, very few countries have effectively been able to fully and permanently implement plans at the national or sub-national level.

Some of the important issues to address for implementation are weak institutional structures, which are not able to carry initiatives over from one administration to the next, lack of capacity (personnel, planning, mechanisms, etc.), lack of highlevel commitment, and financial constraints (including duplication of

efforts by countries and donors) that are beyond countries' short/medium-term capacity.

Many national and international resources have been invested over the years in assessing the needs of countries for integrated watershed and coastal management, as well as in developing the necessary frameworks for its implementation. Although useful, these efforts will require that national governments and international donors, from now on, create incentives and emphasize bridging the gap between assessment and full-scale implementation and sustainability.

Suggested priority issues for the working group

Linking freshwater to oceans is a wide and cross-sectoral issue that would be difficult to analyze in its full dimension within the time frame of the global conference. However, from the potential policy perspective, some priority issues can be identified based on initial recommendations of the core-organizing Working Group:

- Build capacity and propose effective actions/recommendations for the identified freshwater/marine hotspots, considering both ecosystem and human perspective.
- 2) Analyze the identified impacts and suggested solutions to short/medium term effects of climate change on freshwater and marine systems (and their transition areas), especially in critical habitats and hotspots.
- 3) Develop strategies to integrate traditional land and marine planning into effective integrated watershed and coastal area management (including linking

- upstream-downstream, and implementation).
- 4) Identify the social and economic costs associated with land-based sources of marine pollution and how integrated watershed and coastal management can provide cost-effective solutions for local/national economies.

Also, the working group should address a position/strategy to increase/improve the marine-related topics at the 5th World Water Forum (Istanbul, March 2009). Marine issues have not had a strong presence in the sessions and final recommendation of the past WWFs. This Working Group and the results of the Hanoi Conference should take the lead in making marine issues more visible at the Istanbul forum.

Also, for the purposes of the Hanoi Global Conference, it is important that the working group take into account that the proposed topics, challenges, and recommendations of linking freshwater to oceans should be closely discussed with other working groups at the forum. Integrated recommendations with the other working groups will lead to a consistent message about the importance of freshwater and marine ecosystems, especially having the goal of delivering a strong message at the 5th WWF-Istanbul. Some interrelated issues include:

- Theme 1: LMEs
- Theme 1: Marine biodiversity and MPAs
- Theme 1: Fisheries and aquaculture
- Theme 1: Tourism
- Theme 2: Adaptation
- Theme 2: Public Health
- Theme 2: Vulnerable ecosystems
- Theme 2: SIDS
- Theme 3: Governance beyond national jurisdiction (transboundary watersheds)

• CCI: Public education, outreach, media

A comprehensive integration of freshwater and marine-related issues may have an important role in helping achieve some of the marine-related world conservation targets (e.g., WSSD, CBD). International commitments and binding/voluntary instruments developed to protect significant coastal ecosystems, as well as the efforts to develop and manage marine protected areas, may not be sufficient if external impacts can affect the health of coastal ecosystems. As is the case in many countries, if coastal management planning does not consider pollution from landbased sources, the consequences may not be foreseeable and the long-term efforts for coastal conservation and sustainability could be worthless. Integrating watershed planning into coastal/marine conservation efforts may be a long process, but it will be more effective in the long-term to help reach both the marine and freshwater global conservation targets.

Recommendations for addressing priority issues at the Forum

There is not a unique and standardized methodology that can provide answers to the very complex issue of linking freshwater to oceans, especially taking into account environmental, social, cultural, political and economic variables (in all of them including also the potential impact of climate change). However there is valuable information provided by case studies, documented experiences, and compendiums of lessons learned/recommendations by different types of organization and/or experts.

Experiences from different ecosystems and/or countries bring different approaches and useful information that can help in building the necessary political awareness and commitment to address the current and future problems of integrated watershed

and coastal area management. It is important to have in mind that some general recommendations have to be applied at the local/national level and a custom-made approach may be necessary. For instance, climate change will have a gradual effect and will not have the same impact in all similar areas globally. Local impacts of climate change, risk, water availability and use, and changes in freshwater and marine ecosystems have to be modeled/predicted for each particular case.

Each of the priority issues above could be addressed at the Working Group session(s) with [some of] the following proposed questions:

Build capacity and propose effective actions/recommendations for the identified freshwater/marine hotspots, considering both ecosystem and human perspective.

- What would be the priority hotspots (using the natural systems identifies by the IPCC) by region that can help to promote the issue of linking freshwater to oceans?
- What is the level of knowledge we have about the potential impact of climate change on the priority hotspots? What is (or what is the limit of) the natural adaptation capacity of these hotspots?
- What do we know about the consequences (natural, economic, social) of changing or losing those hotspots?
- What would be the priority actions (research, investments, capacity building, planning) for each one of the priority hotspots?

Analyze the identified impacts and suggested solution to short/medium term effects of climate change on freshwater and marine systems (and their transition areas), especially in critical habitats and hotspots.

- What will be the adaptation strategies to face climate change impacts in the most vulnerable coastal areas (e.g., SIDS)?
- What would be the priorities for international cooperation and funding? Where and when?
- What will be the expected impacts on coastal ecosystems and their associated resources (e.g., fisheries, aquaculture, tourism)?
- What will be the expected effect on coastal communities (e.g., health, economy, migrations, poverty)?

Develop strategies to integrate traditional land and marine planning into effective integrated watershed and coastal area management (including linking upstreamdownstream, and implementation).

- What are the incentives to promote integration (e.g., among national agencies, jurisdictions, political levels, stakeholders, and decisionmakers)?
- How could we be more effective in promoting this integration among political leaders and national planners?
- What are the cultural and political barriers to achieve integration (e.g., inland vs. island societies)?
- How to challenge the current and traditional territorial planning process that separates the inland and offshore interlink (e.g., how to see beyond the blue-water spot in the management plan map)?
- How to promote an IWCMplanning incentive program among major donor agencies?
- How to link the development of NPAs (or similar instruments) to the requirements of investors and/or donors?
- How to avoid duplication of efforts (among donors and among national

- agencies) to maximize the planning and implementation resources?
- What are the [most effective] tools to demonstrate the need to achieve integration (e.g., economic valuation, economic activity impact, human health cost, ecosystem service loss, etc.)?
- What are the other priority needs (and how to address them), besides funding, required for effective implementation of national/local IWCM plans?
- How to be more "aggressive" in identifying polluters upstream (and their effects on the environment)?
- How can the marine environment community get (and work) together with the inland planners and environmental groups?
- How to link inland management planning with management plans of particularly sensitive coastal areas (e.g., MPAs) or habitats?
- What are the elements and key strategies for developing integrated water educational programs and involvement for key stakeholders and decision-makers?
- What are the most effective mechanisms for sharing information and/or data?

Proposed goal(s) for the working group

- Identify (and recognize) the costs and implications of failure to link IWRM and ICM.
 - Hotspots (ecosystem, economy, and human)
 - Adaptation to climate change in coastal areas
 - Water supply in coastal areas (e.g., salt water intrusion)
 - Institutional arrangements and investments
- Challenge participants to identify ways to better link IWRM and ICM that can be suitable for governments, donors,

planners (land and marine), and key stakeholders.

- 3) Identify success stories.
 - Institutional mechanisms that have worked (or are working)
 - Financing (sustainable mechanisms and international support)
 - Social (community-based management)
- 4) Provide input to final Theme 1 (and Forum) Report (e.g., recommendation and next steps).
- 5) Identify post-Hanoi activities, including input to the marine section at the 5th World Water Forum.

Steering Committee, Global Forum on Oceans, Coasts, and Islands*

Co-Chairs

Biliana Cicin-Sain, Director, Gerard J. Mangone Center for Marine Policy, University of Delaware (also Head of Secretariat, Global Forum)

Patricio A. Bernal, Executive-Secretary, Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission, UNESCO, Paris, France

Veerle Vandeweerd, Director, Environment and Energy Group, United Nations Development Programme (UNDP)

Governmental

David Balton, Deputy Assistant Secretary for Oceans and Fisheries, Bureau of Oceans, U.S. Department of State

Phil Burgess, Director, Cetacean Policy and Recovery, Department of the Environment and Water Resources, Australia

Nguyen Chu Hoi, Director, Institute of Fisheries Economics and Planning, Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development, Vietnam

Aldo Cosentino, Director-General, Directorate for Nature Protection, Sea Protection, Ministry for Environment and Protection of the Territory, Italy

Margaret Davidson, Director, Coastal Services Center, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), USA

Antonio Diaz de Leon, Director-General, Environmental, Regional Integration and Sectoral Policy, Environment and Natural Resources Ministry (SEMARNAT), Mexico

Ambassador Angus Friday, Chair, Alliance of Small Island States (AOSIS), Permanent Representative of Grenada to the United Nations

Gi-Jun Han, Ministry of Maritime Affairs and Fisheries, Republic of Korea

Elie Jarmache, Chargé de Mission, Secrétariat Général de la Mer, France

Magnus Johannesson, Secretary-General, Ministry for the Environment, Iceland

Ambassador Jagdish Koonjul, Mauritius, former Chair, Alliance of Small Island States (AOSIS)

Gerhard Kuska, Associate Director and Director of Ocean and Coastal Policy, White House Council on Environmental Quality, USA

Tom Laughlin, Deputy Director, International Affairs Office, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), USA

Haiqing Li, Deputy Director-General, State Oceanic Administration (SOA), China

John Low, Adviser to the Minister of Marine Resources for the Cook Islands

Rejoice Mabudafhasi, Deputy Minister of Environmental Affairs and Tourism, South Africa

Jan Mees, Director, Flanders Marine Institute, Belgium

Guillermo Garcia Montero, President, National Aquarium, Havana, Cuba

Magnus Ngoile, Team Leader, Marine and Coastal Environmental

Management Project (MACEMP), Ministry of Natural Resources and Tourism

Rolph Payet, Advisor to the President, Seychelles

Lori Ridgeway, Director-General, International Coordination and Policy Analysis, Department of Fisheries and Oceans, Canada, and Camille Mageau, Director, Marine Ecosystems Conservation Branch, Department of Fisheries and Oceans, Canada

Mario Ruivo, Intersectoral Oceanographic Commission, Ministry of Science, Technology, and Higher Education, Portugal

Indroyono Soesilo, Chairman, Agency for Marine and Fisheries Research, Department of Marine Affairs and Fisheries, Indonesia

Ambassador Enele S. Sopoaga, Tuvalu, Former Vice-Chair, Alliance of Small Island Developing States (AOSIS)

Chris Tompkins, Independent Consultant

Intergovernmental

Salvatore Arico, Programme Specialist, Ecological Sciences, UNESCO

Julian Barbiere and Stefano Belfiore, Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission, France

Chua Thia-Eng, Partnership in Environmental Management for the Seas of East Asia (PEMSEA), IMO/UNDP/GEF, Philippines

Anjan Datta, Global Programme for the Protection of the Marine Environment from Land-Based Activities. The Hague

Ahmed Djoghlaf, Executive Secretary, Convention on Biological Diversity

Al Duda, Senior Advisor, International Waters, Global Environment Facility (GEF)

Serge Garcia, Independent Consultant, and Former Director, Marine Fisheries Resources Division, Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO)

Marea E. Hatziolos, Senior Coastal and Marine Specialist, Environment Department, The World Bank

Indumathie Hewawasam, Independent Consultant

Andrew Hudson, Principal Technical Advisor, International Waters, UNDP/GEF

David Johnson, Executive Secretary, OSPAR Convention, London

Vladimir Mamaev, GEF Regional Technical Advisor, UNDP, Europe and the CIS, Slovak Republic

Franklin McDonald, Adviser, UNEP Caribbean Environment Programme (UNEP/CEP), and former Director, National Environmental Policy Agency, Jamaica

Vaclav Mikulka, Director, UN Division for Ocean Affairs and the Law of the Sea

Ali Mohamed, Coordinator, Coastal and Marine Secretariat, New Partnership for Africa's Development (NEPAD), Kenya Satya Nandan, Secretary-General, International Seabed Authority, Jamaica

Tiago Pitta e Cunha, Member, Cabinet of Fisheries and Maritime Commissioner, European Commission

Mary Power, Director, Resource Mobilization Office, World Meteorological Association

Cristelle Pratt, Director, South Pacific Applied Geoscience Commission (SOPAC), Fiji

Diane Quarless, Chief, Small Island Developing States Unit, UNDESA

John Richardson, Head, Maritime Policy Task Force, European Commission

Anne Rogers, United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UNDESA)

Eduard Sarukhanian, Director, World-Weather-Watch-Applications, World Meteorological Organization (WMO), Switzerland

Alan Simcock, Independent Consultant

Dann Sklarew, Director and Chief Technical Advisor, GEF, IW:LEARN

Asterio Takesy, Director, Secretariat for the Pacific Regional Environment Programme

Khulood Tubaishat, Advisor, The Regional Organization for the Conservation of the Environment of the Red Sea and Gulf of Aden (PERSGA)

Chika Ukwe, Industrial Development Officer (International Waters), United Nations Industrial Development Organization (UNIDO)

Marjo Vierros, Visiting Professor, Institute of Advanced Studies, United Nations University, Vancouver

Eugenio Yunis, Chief, Sustainable Development of Tourism World Tourism Organization

A.H. Zakri, Director, Institute of Advanced Studies, United Nations University, Yokohama

Nongovernmental

Milton Asmus, International Representative, Brazilian Agency for Coastal Management

Awni Behnam, President, International Ocean Institute, Malta

Charles A. Buchanan, Administrator Luso-American Development Foundation, Portugal

Torkil J. Clausen, Managing Director, DHI Water Policy and Senior Adviser, Global Water Partnership

Simon Cripps, Director, Global Marine Programme, World Wide Fund For Nature (WWF) International

Richard Delaney, Executive Director, Center for Coastal Studies, Provincetown, Massachusetts, USA

Annick de Marffy, former Director of Division of Ocean Affairs and Law of the Sea (UNDOALOS), United

Sylvia Earle, Chair, Deep Ocean Exploration and Research (DOER), and Explorer-in-Residence, National Geographic Society

Nations International Consultant

Charles Ehler, Consultant to UNESCO Julius Francis, Executive Secretary, Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association, Tanzania

Matthew Gianni, Political Advisor, Deep Sea Conservation Coalition, Netherlands

Vladimir Golitsyn, Professor of International Law, Moscow State University of International Relations

Lynne Hale, Director, Marine Strategy, The Nature Conservancy

Art Hanson, former Ministerial Ocean Ambassador, Department of Fisheries and Oceans, Canada, member of the Canadian Foundation for Innovation

Gregor Hodgson, Director, Reef Check

Paul Holthus, Independent Consultant

Gunnar Kullenberg, Independent Consultant and former Director, Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission (IOC)

Dan Laffoley, World Commission on Protected Areas-Marine, IUCN

Carl Lundin, Head, IUCN Marine Programme

Dawn Martin, President, Sea Web, USA

Gerald Miles, The Nature Conservancy, Pacific Region, Brisbane, Australia

Iouri Oliounine, Executive Director, International Ocean Institute, Malta

Pietro Parravano, President, Institute for Fisheries Resources, World Fisheries Forum

Sian Pullen, Independent Consultant, New Zealand, and former Head of European and Middle East Marine Program, WWF International, UK

Victoria Radchenko, Director, International Ocean Institute, Ukraine

Tony Ribbink, Director, Sustainable Seas Trust

Evelia Rivera-Arriaga, Centro de Ecologia, Pesquerias y Oceanographia del Golfo de Mexico (EPOMEX), Mexico

Nirmal Jivan Shah, Chief Executive, Nature Sevchelles

Alan Simcock, former Executive Director, OSPAR, and former cochair, UN Informal Consultative Process on Ocean Affairs and Law of the Soc

Nancy Targett, Dean, University of Delaware College of Marine and Earth Studies

Kristian Teleki, International Coral Reef Action Network, Switzerland

Hiroshi Terashima, Executive Director, Institute for Ocean Policy, Ocean Policy Research Foundation, Japan

Grant Trebble, African Marine and Coastal Resource Over-exploitation Prevention Strategy (AMCROPS), South Africa

Philippe Vallette and Manuel Cira, NAUSICAA, France, and the World Ocean Network

David VanderZwaag, IUCN Specialist Group on Ocean Law and Governance

* Please note: Members of the Steering Committee participate in their individual capacities.